**ORIGINAL**

**RECEIVED**

FEB - 3 2016

**SC SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Horry County  
Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

---

ANTHONY M. RIGGINS,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-001635

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

LAURA R. BAER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

## ISSUES PRESENTED

### I.

Whether the PCR court erred in finding trial counsel provided effective assistance of counsel where trial counsel presented no argument at the pre-trial Biggers hearing regarding suppression of the alleged victim's show-up identification and failed to preserve the issues related to the identification for appellate review on direct appeal?

### II.

Whether the PCR court erred in finding that there was overwhelming evidence of Petitioner's guilt such that any deficiency in trial counsel's representation was harmless where the only evidence against Petitioner was the unreliable, show-up identification of the alleged victim, which trial counsel failed to properly challenge and preserve?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 10, 2008, the Horry County grand jury indicted Petitioner Anthony Riggins for the May 7, 2008 armed robbery of a Myrtle Beach motel. App. 249-250.

On June 20-21, 2013, Riggins appeared before the Honorable John C. Hayes, III, and a jury for trial. Riggins was represented by Kia T. Wilson, and the State was represented by George H. DeBusk, Jr. App. 1. The jury found Riggings guilty. App. 135. Judge Hayes sentenced Riggins to thirty years imprisonment. App. 146.

Riggins filed a Notice of Intent to Appeal. On November 22, 2013, Appellate Defender Lara Caudy filed a brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738, 87 S.Ct. 1396 (1967), on Riggins' behalf. Riggins testified at the PCR hearing that Ms. Caudy advised him that she filed an Anders brief because his trial attorney did not properly preserve any issues for direct appeal, including suppression of the identification. App. 201, ll. 14-22. Riggins then filed a notice to withdraw his appeal. The Court of Appeals accordingly dismissed Riggins' direct appeal on April 2, 2014.

Riggins filed his post-conviction relief (PCR) application on April 8, 2014. App. 148 – 157. He subsequently filed two amendments to his application on May 21, 2014 and May 30, 2014. App. 158 – 173; App. 174. On June 4, 2014, the State filed a letter stating that it did not consider the amendments a part of the action because Riggins was appointed counsel at the time they were filed. App. 175. On January 13, 2015, the State filed its Return. App. 176 – 182.

On May 12, 2015, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Michael G. Nettles. Riggins was represented by Tristan Shaffer, and the State was represented by Assistant Attorney General Joshua L. Thomas. App. 183. One of the issues raised at the PCR hearing was whether trial counsel was ineffective in failing to preserve the issue of suppression of the show-up

identification for appellate review. App. 225, ll. 1-25; App. 185, l. 18 – 186, l. 1; App. 210, l. 21 – 212, l. 25; App. 215, l. 24 – 220, l. 18.

On June 26, 2015, Judge Nettles entered an Order of Dismissal denying Riggins' PCR application. App. 237 – 247 (Order of Dimissal). Judge Nettles found that the identification issue was "thoroughly argued" and preserved. App. 243 (Order of Dismissal, p. 7). He further found that any deficiency in trial counsel's performance was harmless in light of what it found to be overwhelming evidence of Riggins' guilt. App. 246 (Order of Dismissal, p. 10).

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The PCR court erred in finding trial counsel provided effective assistance of counsel where trial counsel presented no argument at the pre-trial Biggers hearing regarding suppression of the alleged victim's show-up identification and failed to preserve the issues related to the identification for appellate review on direct appeal.**

#### **Introduction**

Trial counsel Kia Wilson told the jury in her opening statement that “this is a case of mistaken identity” and she reaffirmed at the PCR hearing that the identification was the “main problem” in Riggins’ case. App. 39, ll. 4-6; App. 210, ll. 21-23. Yet, trial counsel failed to present *any* argument that the inherently suggestive and unreliable show-up identification should be suppressed at the Biggers<sup>1</sup> hearing. App. 18 – 19. Despite the lack of any argument in the record, the PCR court found that “[t]rial counsel thoroughly argued the suppression motion in a pre-trial hearing.” App. 243 (Order of Dismissal, p. 7). Trial counsel further failed to object to the admission of the identification testimony when it was presented at trial, failed to properly elicit testimony regarding the suggestiveness and unreliability of the identification before the jury, and failed to request an identification charge. Even so, the PCR court found that “trial counsel was not deficient because [the identification] issue was properly preserved for appellate review.” App. 243 (Order of Dismissal, p. 7). These findings by the PCR court were error, as the trial transcript plainly reveals the deficiencies in trial counsel’s representation.

The PCR court further erred in finding that Riggins failed to show prejudice “because the trial judge properly denied the suppression motion.” App. 243 (Order of Dismissal, p. 7). Trial counsel’s failures resulted in an inadequate presentation of the case to the jury. As a result, the jury

---

<sup>1</sup> Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 93 S.Ct. 375 (1972).

was not given any charge on identification.<sup>2</sup> App. 121, l. 21 – 131, l. 6. Because the issues related to the identification were not properly preserved for review on direct appeal, no appellate court has reviewed the propriety of the Biggers ruling. Thus, contrary to the PCR court's ruling, Riggins was prejudiced by trial counsel's deficient representation.

### **Relevant Facts**

#### ***Counsel's Deficient Representation at the Biggers Hearing***

A pre-trial Biggers hearing was held to determine the admissibility of the alleged victim's identification of Riggins as the robber. App. 5, l. 12 – 18, l. 13. The only witness at the *in camera* hearing was the alleged victim, Chase Mitchell. Mitchell testified that he was in the back office of the Sea Palms Motel when an individual came inside, with his face covered, and began pacing back and forth by the front counter. When Mitchell asked him if he was okay, the man allegedly uncovered his face and responded "yeah, how about you go ahead and empty out the drawer." Mitchell also claimed that the person made a motion like he had a weapon. Mitchell said that he observed the person for three to five minutes in bright light and got "a good look" at his face, clothing, and build. According to Mitchell he identified Riggins as the robber fifteen to twenty minutes later in a parking lot less than a mile from the motel. App. 5, l. 12 – 10, l. 16. The description of the suspect in Mitchell's written statement is "very black oil[y] skin, 5'5' husky – shaved bald head – point flat wide nose. I love NY t-shirt w/ blue jeans (black)." App. 240 (Alleged Victim's Written Statement). However both of the officers' reports indicated that the suspect's face was covered and neither mentioned the suspect's nose. See App. 235 (Applicant's

---

<sup>2</sup> Trial counsel did not request an identification charge and the trial court did not give an identification charge *sua sponte*.

Ex. 3, Bresadola's Incident Report); App. 234 (Applicant's Ex. 2, Miller's Supp. Incident Report).

Mitchell admitted at the *in camera* hearing that he did not get out of the police car to view the suspect at the show-up identification and that no light was on in the police car. Nonetheless, he claimed that the lighting was good and that he was one hundred percent certain that the person he identified in the parking lot was the same person who robbed him. He averred that he recognized the suspect by his distinct nose and clothing. App. 8, l. 22 – 9, l. 14. Trial counsel impeached Mitchell on his claim that he could see the robber's face with the police reports that indicated that the robber's face was covered. App. 10, l. 2 – 15, l. 20. In an attempt to deflect the impeachment, Mitchell said:

Well, at the time span that I saw him in, I – the robber, the robbery, he had such a distinct nose, and just facial features that I knew it was him. There was no lapse in time. I mean, this was not an hour or two hours later. I mean, it was definitely him, so no doubt about it. He still had the same clothes on.

App. 12, ll. 19-24. Rather than boosting the identification's reliability, this soliloquy by a flustered witness, regarding many of the exact factors that the trial court had to evaluate in determining reliability, is quite suspicious. Trial counsel should, and could, have argued to the trial court that Mitchell's testimony at the *in camera* hearing was not credible.

Immediately following the witness testimony at the Biggers hearing, and with no argument presented by the trial attorneys, the trial court issued its ruling. The court ruled that though a one-person show up identification "is by its very nature" "unduly suggestive," it was nonetheless reliable. He found that the witness' memory was still fresh at the time of show-up, that the suspect did not have time to alter his looks, that the witness had a full opportunity to view the suspect, that the description he gave was the same as the person he later identified, and that he was one hundred

percent certain at the time of show-up. Thus, he admitted evidence of the show-up identification and an in-court identification of Riggins by Mitchell. App. 18, l. 14 – 19, l. 8.

### *Counsel's Deficient Representation at Trial*

In her opening statement, trial counsel told the jury: "I would let you know that my client's defense is that he was not the person, that this is a case of mistaken identity." App. 39, ll. 4-6. However, during Mitchell's testimony before the jury, defense counsel failed to raise many of the points that she addressed during his testimony at the pre-trial hearing. Mitchell again admitted that it was dark outside at the time of show-up identification. But, trial counsel failed to question him regarding his ability to see the robber's face or the inconsistencies between the written documentation and his supposed memory almost five years later at trial. App. 53, l. 14 – 59, l. 16.

Officer Henry Bresadola testified that he and Agent Miller responded to the motel after receiving a notification from dispatch. According to Officer Bresadola, after they got a description of the suspect, Agent Miller rode off to look for the suspect while he stayed and took Mitchell's written statement. Approximately thirty minutes passed between Mitchell's statement and Mitchell being taken by another officer to conduct the show-up identification. App. 64, l. 23 – 66, l. 17. Mitchell's written statement was entered into evidence at the PCR hearing and reflects a time of "20:27," which is 8:27 p.m. in standard time. App. 236 (Applicant's Ex. 4, Alleged Victim's Statement). Officer Bresadola's report states that Mitchell "stated that the suspect was 'sweaty, oily and **holding his shirt over his nose like he had something on his face.**'" App. 235 (Applicant's Ex. 3, Bresadola's Incident Report) (emphasis added).

Agent Randy Scott Miller testified at trial that he arrived at the motel at approximately 8:45 p.m. App. 81, ll. 3-7. He met with the victim and received the following description: "black male, shorter, five foot range, stocky build, bald head, wearing bluejeans, a white t-shirt

with I Love New York written on it.” App. 81, ll. 12-21. **Neither Agent Miller’s in-court testimony nor his written report mentions the suspect’s nose as being a part of Mitchell’s description.** App. 80, l. 18 – 90, l. 12; App. 234 (Applicant’s Ex. 2, Miller’s Supp. Incident Report). According to Agent Miller, after receiving the description he “left the hotel and went to comb the area for the suspect.” App. 81, ll. 18-24. He saw Riggins, determined that he “match[ed] the description,” and detained Riggins pending the show-up identification.<sup>3</sup> Contradicting Mitchell’s *in camera* testimony that he was three feet away, Agent Miller recalled that Mitchell was approximately ten feet from Riggins during the show-up identification.<sup>4</sup> App. 87, ll. 11-24; App. 8, l. 24 – 9, l. 2. These inconsistencies were not brought to the attention of the jury.

It was not until the directed verdict motion that trial counsel even drew the court’s attention to the inconsistencies in Mitchell’s testimony – the argument that she should have made at the pre-trial hearing. Such argument was futile by that point because the trial court is concerned with the existence of evidence rather than its weight in deciding a motion for directed verdict. See State v. Ladner, 373 S.C. 103, 121, 644 S.E.2d 684, 693 (2007) (“[T]he trial court is only concerned with the existence of the evidence, not its weight, when deciding a directed verdict motion.”). Even so, trial counsel’s remarks at the directed verdict stage were limited and failed to reference any case law. App. 91, l. 8 – 92, l. 4; App. 214, ll. 11-14.

---

<sup>3</sup> Although not an issue in this case, counsel failed to raise the issue of whether there was reasonable, articulable suspicion for a Terry stop of Riggins, who was merely a black male in the vicinity of the alleged robbery.

<sup>4</sup> Agent Miller said that Sergeant Joyce and possibly detectives Verder and Graham were also present at the show-up. App. 81, l. 16 – 90, l. 11; App. 8, l. 24 – 9, l. 3. Detective Graham gave no testimony regarding the identification and neither Joyce nor Verner testified at all. App. 68, l. 6 – 80, l. 14.

### ***Counsel's Testimony at the PCR Hearing***

At the PCR hearing, trial counsel admitted that the "main problem" in Riggins' case was the identification. App. 210, ll. 21-23. Trial counsel recalled that there was a pre-trial hearing to address the identification. She testified:

I was pretty clear that I felt that the witness was not being as truthful as he could be which is why I kept trying to hammer home the point about the inconsistencies between what he wrote and what he said. I was hoping that -- I mean, clearly he was definite that he had seen Mr. Riggins and that he knew him, he knew his face in that short period of time, even though he admitted that he was frazzled, I think, was the word that I saw in the transcript. But he was very definite despite my attempts to impeach him that he saw what he saw and he knows -- that he knew what he saw.

App. 211, l. 22 – 212, l. 10. Though trial counsel pointed to Mitchell's admission that he was "frazzled," she failed to appreciate the fact that almost the entirety of her examination relevant to the identification was done only *in camera* and not in front of the jury. App. 219, l. 19 – 220, l. 18; App. 53, l. 14 – 54, l. 16. Thus, the jury was not aware that Mitchell originally claimed that the suspect's face was covered or that the suspect's nose was not mentioned in either of the officer's written reports. Instead, trial counsel's examination of Mitchell at trial focused almost exclusively on the alleged victim's ability to see whether the suspect had a weapon in his pants or shirt. App. 54, l. 17 – 59, l. 16; App. 62, l. 17 – 64, l. 4.

### **Discussion**

#### ***Deficiency of Trial Counsel***

The PCR Court erred in finding that trial counsel's conduct at the Biggers hearing was not deficient, that she thoroughly argued the suppression in a pre-trial hearing, and that the identification issue was properly preserved for direct appeal. Here, trial counsel was deficient in conducting only a *pro forma* suppression hearing, after which she failed to present any argument to the court. Trial counsel further failed to elicit testimony on many of the issues related to the

reliability of the identification before the jury. Those failures resulted in the identification issue being unpreserved for direct appeal.

A criminal defendant is guaranteed the right to effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. U.S. CONST. amend. VI; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). “Where allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel are made, the question becomes, ‘whether counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.’ ” Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686). Courts evaluate allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel using a two-pronged test. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668).

First, the applicant must demonstrate that counsel’s representation was deficient, which is measured by an objective standard of reasonableness. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687–88. “Under this prong, ‘[t]he proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.’” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). Second, the applicant must demonstrate he was prejudiced by counsel’s performance in such a manner that, but for counsel’s error, there is a reasonable probability the result of the proceedings would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Id.

In the instant case, the PCR court found that “trial counsel thoroughly argued the suppression motion in a pre-trial hearing. App. 243 (Order of Dismissal, p. 7). On the contrary, a simple review of the trial transcripts reveals that trial counsel presented **no argument** at the Biggers hearing. See App. 5, l. 12 – 19, l. 9. The PCR court further found that trial counsel was not required to make a contemporaneous objection to the victim’s identification because his

testimony immediately followed the trial court's ruling on the suppression motion. App. 243 (Order of Dismissal, p. 7). That may have been sufficient had trial counsel already presented argument against the admission of the identification, but no such argument was presented in this case. Thus, the PCR court's reliance on State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 642, 541 S.E.2d 837, 839-40 (2001), where trial counsel "argued to suppress" the evidence seized, is misplaced. The failure to present any argument left appellate counsel on direct appeal with no basis to argue that the trial court's ruling at the Biggers hearing was incorrect. Had it been raised, the appellate court would have likely cited to this state's precedent prohibiting appellate counsel from raising different arguments than those that were asserted at trial. Here, of course, there was no basis for suppression argued at trial.

#### ***Prejudice to Riggins***

The PCR court erred in finding that Riggins failed to show that he was prejudiced by the alleged deficiencies in trial counsel's representation because "the trial judge properly denied the suppression motion." App. 243 (Order of Dismissal, p. 7). Here, there was a substantial likelihood of misidentification warranting suppression of the identification. Further, assuming *arguendo* that admission of the identification was proper, trial counsel's failure to address the deficiencies in her cross-examination of the alleged victim before the jury prevented the jury for considering those factors in determining the weight to give the identification testimony. Riggins was further prejudiced because the jury was not properly instructed regarding the identification.

A criminal defendant may be deprived of due process of law by an identification procedure which is unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irreparable mistaken identification. State v. Turner, 373 S.C. 121, 127, 644 S.E.2d 693, 696 (2007). Thus, an in-court identification of an accused is inadmissible if a suggestive out-of-court identification procedure

created a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. Id. The United States Supreme Court has developed a two-prong inquiry to determine the admissibility of an out-of-court identification. State v. Traylor, 360 S.C. 74, 81, 600 S.E.2d 523, 526 (2004) (citing Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188 (1972)). First, the court must determine whether the identification process was unduly suggestive. Next, it must determine whether the out-of-court identification was nevertheless so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed. State v. Moore, 343 S.C. 282, 287, 540 S.E.2d 445, 447 (2000). Only if the procedure was suggestive need the court consider whether there was a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. Id. at 287, 540 S.E.2d at 447–48.

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