RECEIVED

JUN 20 2016

SC SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-001635

ANTHONY M. RIGGINS,.....Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,.....Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHANNA C. VALENZUELA
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 79834

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. The PCR court was correct in finding trial counsel provided effective assistance of counsel where trial counsel contested the identification testimony through cross-examination and where the issue was preserved for appeal because the identification witness testified directly after the trial court's ruling in the Neil v. Biggers hearing.**

The PCR Court found trial counsel conducted “an extensive and thorough cross examination” of the victim’s identification of Petitioner (R. 242) and held that “[t]rial counsel did not need to make a contemporaneous objection to the victim’s identification because no evidence was taken between the trial court’s ruling on the admissibility of the identification and the victim’s testimony” (R. 242). Additionally, because the trial court properly denied the suppression motion, Applicant also failed to establish any prejudice by trial counsel’s alleged ineffectiveness. As such, the PCR Court’s order denying Petitioner relief was correct and should be affirmed.³

³ Petitioner raises for the first time an allegation that trial counsel was ineffective for not requesting a jury instruction on identification. This issue was not raised to nor ruled upon by the PCR court. Therefore, this issue is not preserved for this Court’s review. It is well settled that an issue that has not been presented to or passed upon by the trial judge will not be considered on appeal. State v. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 204 S.E.2d 727 (1974). If an issue is raised but not ruled upon, it is not preserved for appeal. State v. Watts, 321 S.C. 158, 467 S.E.2d 272 (1996). Only a matter that has been ruled on below can be reviewed, otherwise, the appellate court would be exercising original jurisdiction. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 204 S.E.2d 727. See Staubes v. City of Folly Beach, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000) (“It is well-settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review.”); State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415, 423, 706 S.E.2d 16, 20 (2011) (“Our law is clear that an issue may not be raised for the first time on appeal.”); I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (holding an appellant must present both his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling before presenting issues and arguments on appeal). Issue preservation rules are meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments. Herron v. Century BMW, 395 S.C. 461, 719 S.E.2d 640 (2011).

A. Relevant Facts

On May 7, 2008, a man described as a black male, wearing jeans and a white t-shirt with the phrase "I love NY" printed on the front, rang the buzzer to the front office for the Sea Palms Motel. (R. p. 6, ll. 7-16; p. 44, ll. 9-10; p. 166.) Employee Chase Mitchell walked to the front office and found the man, sweating and pacing, covering his face with a shirt, and "muffling [sic]." (R. p. 44, ll. 11-13.) Chase Mitchell asked the man to repeat himself; at which time, the man dropped the covering from his face, made a lunging motion, and said "how about you go ahead and empty out the drawer." (R. pp. 44, l. 11- 45, l. 3.) Mitchell, seeing movement near the man's pants or under his shirt, believed the man to be holding what Mitchell believed to be a gun. (R. pp. 44, l. 11- 45, l. 3.) Mitchell gave the man \$40.00, and the man turned to leave. (R. p. 47, ll. 4-9.) As the man neared the door to exit, he suddenly turned towards Mitchell and demanded Mitchell lay on the floor. (R. pp. 47, l. 21- 48, l. 1.) Mitchell, faced with a man shorter than him but holding what he thought to be a gun, followed instructions, and believing the man "was going to shoot [him] because [sic] just with the actions that he was doing," "basically [got] on [his] knees pleading with him." (R. p. 48, ll. 1-21.) The suspect left the front office and ran away from the ocean towards Kings Highway along 7th Avenue. (R. p. 48, ll. 21-25; p. 49, ll. 1-3.) The robbery lasted approximately three minutes. (R. p. 46, ll. 1-3.)

Mitchell reported the robbery to police and described the suspect as a male with very black and oily skin, 5'5" tall, husky build, shaved bald head, pointed flat wide nose, wearing black jeans and a white t-shirt with "I love NY" printed across the front. (R. p. 166.) Having the victim's description of the assailant, about one mile away from the crime scene, Officer Randy Scott Miller, Jr. observed a suspect matching the description running across the road away from the motel and the ocean. Officer Miller detained the man until the victim was driven over and

asked to identify him. (R. pp. 81, l. 21 – 82, l. 17.) The victim was brought over to Officer Miller's location, which was on Kings Highway, and observed the man sitting on the ground in a "very well-lit" parking lot with his hands cuffed behind his back, wearing jeans and an inside-out white t-shirt with the "I love NY" logo still visible through the shirt. (R. pp. 51-53.) The victim identified the man, Petitioner, as the robber. (R. p. 52, ll. 11-18.) Both in pre-trial and before the jury, the victim identified Petitioner as the man who robbed him and whom he identified in that "well-lit parking lot" with "one hundred percent certainty." (R. p. 18, ll. 6-9; p. 52, ll. 11-16.)

During cross-examination in the pre-trial Neil v. Biggers hearing, trial counsel challenged the victim on the lighting conditions. (R. p. 9.) She also challenged the victim on his statements to law enforcement, pointing out that the statements said Petitioner's face was covered during the robbery. (R. pp. 10-14.) After considering the direct and cross-examination of the State and the trial attorney, the trial court ruled that while a one-person show up identification is by its very nature unduly suggestive, it still found by clear and convincing evidence that the identification was reliable. (R. p. 18, ll. 13-18.) The trial court outlined its reasoning in support of its ruling as follows: the show-up occurred shortly after the crime, it was also very near to the crime scene, Petitioner did not have time to alter his looks, the witness had full opportunity to view the criminal at the time of the crime, the victim's attention was direct, the victim conversed with Petitioner during the crime, the description given by the victim and the actual description of the person the victim identified were the same, the victim was one hundred percent certain of his identification, the clothing on Petitioner was the same as what the victim had identified, and the length of time between the crime and the confrontation was "very, very short." (R. pp. 18, l. 19-19, l. 9.)

The first witness called by the State after the Neil v. Biggers hearing and opening statements was the victim. (R. p. 43.) On direct, the victim testified that although Petitioner's face was covered when he first encountered him in the front office, Petitioner lowered the covering and the victim was able to see Petitioner's face. (R. p. 46, ll. 8-14.) The victim explained that Petitioner was about one foot away from him, that they interacted for about three minutes, and that the lighting in the office was very bright. (R. pp. 44-46.) The victim testified that it was about fifteen to twenty minutes before he identified Petitioner, that the parking lot in which he identified Petitioner was well-lit, that he was about three feet away from Petitioner when he identified him, that Petitioner was wearing the same clothes except his shirt was inside out, and that the victim was one hundred percent certain the man he identified was the same person who had robbed him fifteen to twenty minutes prior to the identification. (R. pp. 50-52.)

On cross-examination, trial counsel challenged the victim with his inconsistent statements as to where Petitioner's hands were during the robbery. (R. pp. 57-59.) On recross-examination, trial counsel emphasized how frazzled the victim was during the crime and secured the victim's confirmation that he was not able to see below Petitioner's waist once Petitioner leaned towards him and thus could not see if he had a weapon. (R. pp. 62, l. 17-64, l. 2.) And on cross-examination of Officer Miller, trial counsel identified and highlighted the discrepancy of the distance between the victim and Petitioner during the identification; Officer Miller admitted the distance was closer to ten feet than the three feet the victim had testified to. (R. p. 87, ll. 21-25.) In closing, trial counsel argued to the jury that there were no photos of the clothing Petitioner was wearing the night of the crime, no fingerprints that matched Petitioner, no weapons found on Petitioner when he was found only fifteen minutes later. Trial counsel argued the victim was confused and noted his statements to police differed, and emphasized no physical

evidence corroborated his statements. (R. pp. 117, l. 9 – 120, l. 2.). Before the trial court instructed the jury, trial counsel fought for and received a jury charge on petit larceny, which was a charge she wanted in case the jury believed this was a theft without a weapon. (R. pp. 97, l. 18-102, l. 9; p. 215, ll. 1-5.)

B. Trial counsel was not ineffective and therefore this petition must fail.

Trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to demand the opportunity to make arguments to the trial court where she effectively argued through cross-examination during the Neil v. Biggers hearing and where the Court clearly outlined both his ruling and the reasoning for his ruling on the record. See Simpson v. Moore, 367 S.C. 587, 598 n.2, 627 S.E.2d 701, 707 n.2 (2006) (“Though hindsight may provide a different view of counsel’s actions, Simpson is not entitled to a new trial for the sole purpose of presenting a ‘fancier’ case.” (citing Jones v. State, 332 S.C. 329, 504 S.E.2d 822 (1998))). Furthermore, because the victim was the very first witness in the trial and no further evidence was admitted between the trial court’s ruling on the Neil v. Biggers motion and the identification coming in, it was not ineffective assistance for trial counsel not to make a contemporaneous objection during the victim’s testimony before the jury. State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 642-43, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001). Trial counsel challenged the victim’s account during cross-examination at pre-trial, in front of the jury, during the directed verdict motion, and in her closing argument. Trial counsel, therefore, did not provide ineffective assistance of counsel in this case. Furthermore, even if this Court were to find trial counsel’s performance was deficient, the PCR court was still correct because Petitioner cannot establish any prejudice from trial counsel’s alleged ineffectiveness.

C. Regardless, Petitioner cannot establish prejudice because to do so he must prove the show-up identification was unduly suggestive and unreliable under a totality of the circumstances analysis.

To establish prejudice on a claim that counsel was ineffective regarding the admittance of evidence, Petitioner must show that had his trial attorney challenged the evidence, there is a reasonable probability that he would have prevailed, and the evidence in question would have been excluded. Rollison v. State, 346 S.C. 506, 509-10, 552 S.E.2d 290, 292 (2001). Here, had trial counsel made additional argument in support of her effective cross-examination at the Neil v. Biggers hearing, the testimony would not have been excluded because the lineup was not unduly suggestive or unreliable. Even preserving this issue for appellate review, Petitioner's convictions would have been affirmed on appeal. Therefore, there is no reasonable probability that the result of the proceeding would have been different. Cherry, supra.

Single person show-ups are disfavored because they are inherently suggestive. State v. Blassingame, 338 S.C. 240, 251, 525 S.E.2d 535, 541 (Ct. App. 1999). However, identifications obtained from show-ups are not automatically excluded and may be admissible if found to be sufficiently reliable. Id. In State v. Brown, the Court of Appeals thoroughly analyzed the show-up identification procedure:

[A] showup may be proper where it occurs shortly after the alleged crime, near the scene of the crime, as the witness' memory is still fresh, and the subject has not had time to alter his looks or dispose of evidence, and the showup may expedite the release of innocent suspects, and enable the police to determine whether to continue searching. The closer in time and place to the scene of the crime, the less objectionable is a showup. A show-up may be proper even though the police refer to a suspect as a suspect, and even though the suspect is handcuffed or is in the presence of the police. Although show-ups have been upheld by the Court, these situations usually involve either extenuating circumstances or are very close in time to the crime.

Single person show-ups are disfavored because they are suggestive by their nature. However, an identification may be reliable under the totality of the circumstances even when a suggestive procedure has been used. Suggestiveness alone does not mandate the exclusion of evidence. Reliability is the linchpin in determining the admissibility of identification testimony.

356 S.C. 496, 503-504, 589 S.E.2d 781, 785 (Ct. App. 2003) (internal citations omitted).

In determining the admissibility of evidence of an out-of-court identification, a court must conduct a two-prong inquiry into the matter. See Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 199-200 (1972) (outlining the necessary inquiry regarding out-of-court identifications and the factors to be weighed when determining reliability). That inquiry involves first ascertaining whether the identification process was unduly suggestive and then determining whether the out-of-court identification was nevertheless so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed. State v. Govan, 372 S.C. 552, 558, 643 S.E.2d 92, 95 (Ct. App. 2007); see State v. Liverman, 398 S.C. 130, 138, 727 S.E.2d 422, 426 (2012) (“Due process requires courts to assess, on a case-by-case basis, whether the identification resulted from unnecessary and unduly suggestive police procedures, and if so, whether the out-of-court identification was nevertheless so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed.”). A trial judge should only exclude the identification evidence if there is “a **very substantial** likelihood of irreparable misidentification.” Perry v. New Hampshire, ___ U.S. ___, ___, 132 S. Ct. 716, 720 (2012) (emphasis added and citation omitted). Significantly, the exclusion of evidence is a “drastic sanction” and should be “limited to identification testimony which is manifestly suspect.” Harker v. Maryland, 800 F.2d 437, 443 (4th Cir. 1983).

Amongst the various identification procedures, single person show-ups are disfavored because they are inherently suggestive. Blassingame, 338 S.C. at 251, 525 S.E.2d at 541.

However, “[m]ost eyewitness identifications involve some element of suggestion[,]” and suggestiveness alone does not mandate the exclusion of identification evidence. Perry, 132 S. Ct. at 727; see State v. Brown, 356 S.C. 496, 504, 589 S.E.2d 781, 785 (Ct. App. 2003) (“Suggestiveness alone does not mandate the exclusion of evidence.”). Accordingly, there is no bright line rule concerning show-ups, and the admissibility of an identification made during a show-up is controlled by the particular facts and circumstances of each individual case. Gibbs v. State, 403 S.C. 484, 494, 744 S.E.2d 170, 175 (2013); see Perry, 132 S. Ct. at 720 (“An identification infected by improper police influence, our case law holds, is not automatically excluded.”).

If a show-up is conducted, the show-up may be proper where it occurs: (1) shortly after the alleged crime; (2) near the scene of the crime; (3) while the witness’ memory is still fresh; (4) when the suspect has not had time to alter his looks or dispose of evidence; and (5) when it may expedite the release of innocent suspects and enable the police to determine whether they need to continue searching. Brown, 356 S.C. at 503-504, 589 S.E.2d at 785; see also Willis v. Garrison, 624 F.2d 491, 493-494 (4th Cir. 1980) (acknowledging show-ups are inherently suggestive but recognizing prompt on-the-scene show-up identifications can promote fairness by enhancing the reliability of the identifications and permitting the expeditious release of innocent suspects).

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